
Please ask for Julie Britton Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: Julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - LICENSING COMMITTEE
Date & Time - WEDNESDAY, 28TH MARCH, 2018 AT 10.00 

AM

Venue - NORFOLK ROOM, THE CONFERENCE 
SUITE, ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee 
requiring further information, or 
with specific questions, are 
asked to raise these with the 
appropriate officer at least two 
working days before the meeting.  
If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, 
and reported to Committee.

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile 
telephones

Members:

Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S. Askew
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr R.W. Duffield

Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Monday, 19 March 2018

Public Document Pack





Licensing Committee
28 March 2018

Please ask for Julie Britton Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: Julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

PART A- ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 5 - 7
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2017.

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the 
meeting.

6. TAXI LICENSING UPDATE To Follow

Report by Donna Hall, Licensing & Business Support Manager.

7. UPDATE ON NEW ANIMAL WELFARE REGULATIONS 8 - 12

Report by Donna Hall, Licensing & Business Support Manager.

8. TEAM UPDATE 
Verbal update by Donna Hall, Licensing & Business Support 
Officer.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

LICENSING COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 22 November 2017 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor C Bowes
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

In Attendance
Donna Hall - Licensing & Business Support Manager
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer
Melanie Rushmore - Assistant Licensing Officer

Action By

17/17MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2017 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

18/17APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Askew, Millbank and 
L. Monument.

19/17URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

20/17DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

None.

21/17NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

None.

22/17TAXI LICENSING AND THE EQUALITY ACT 2010 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

Members were reminded that the decision to implement the provisions of 
Section 165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 had been deferred from 
the previous meeting in March 2017 for further consideration.

4

Agenda Item 1



Licensing Committee
22 November 2017

2

Action By

The provisions contained in the Act were highlighted.  It was noted that 
these provisions allowed a Licensing authority to create a list of 
“designated vehicles” – vehicles that were capable of carrying passengers 
in wheelchairs (section 167) and then required drivers of those vehicles to 
provide mobility assistance (Section 165).  Members were informed that 
there had been quite a number of FOI requests nationally on this matter 
and a great deal of Local Authorities had already adopted such a list.  The 
Department for Transport often contacted the Licensing Team offering 
guidance and was keen for Breckland to produce and adopt a list of 
designated vehicles.

If Members’ were mindful to approve the recommendation, such a list could 
be created following consultation with the owners of the vehicles.  The 
drivers of those vehicles would also be made aware of their responsibilities 
and apply for medical exemption if necessary.

The list would then be published on the Council’s website.

In response to a question as to whether it was voluntary to be added to the 
list, Members were informed that if the vehicle was suitable to carry 
wheelchairs it would automatically be added to the list and would be an 
offence for a licensed driver on the designated list, unless exempt, to fail to 
comply with these duties.  The exemptions were highlighted.

Councillor Monument asked if drivers could charge extra for this service.  
The Licensing & Business Support Manager explained that drivers could 
not and any complaints about charges for this service would be 
investigated.

The Chairman asked if the Licensing Team had received any complaints 
from wheelchairs users since the last meeting in March.  Members were 
informed that no complaints had been received as most drivers already 
provided such assistance.

Councillor Brindle asked if the Licensing Team had a list of vehicles 
available that could carry wheelchairs as he had received a complaint from 
a constituent who had trouble finding one.   The Licensing & Business 
Support Manager advised that there were not many in the Breckland area; 
in fact, there were only ten that she would consider to be wheelchair 
friendly and only six of those were hackney carriages.  She pointed out that 
many authorities had their own Policies stating that a certain type of 
licensed vehicle had to have access for wheelchairs.  This could be 
something that Breckland could consider.

Councillor Darby felt that if a company had more than a certain number of 
vehicles a provision should be made that one of them had to be wheelchair 
accessible.  The Chairman felt that this would be difficult to enforce.

The Licensing & Business Support Manager suggested that this could be 
considered as part of the Policy and could be updated accordingly.

RESOLVED that the decision to implement the provisions under Section 
165, 166 and 167 of the Equality Act 2010 be approved.

5



Licensing Committee
22 November 2017

3

Action By

23/17LICENSING ACTIVITIES AND NEWS UPDATE (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

All taxi policy and procedures were being reviewed; Members would be 
contacted by email accordingly. 

The dates of all Town Council meetings would be provided to allow the 
Licensing Team a wider consultation.

The meeting closed at 11.15 am

CHAIRMAN

6



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Phil Adams, Executive People and Public Protection Manager 

To: Licensing Committee 28tH March 2018

Author: Donna Hall

Subject: A Report on the New Animal Welfare Regulations 

Purpose: To update members on the DRAFT Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 and advise on the key 
differences from the existing regime.

Recommendation:

1) That the report be noted for information

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report is to advise the Committee of the draft Regulations which will change the 
existing licensing regime for animal establishments including animal boarding 
establishments, dog breeding establishments, pet shops and riding establishments. The 
report is based on the draft regulations, and whilst further significant changes are not 
anticipated, they may be subject to amendments.

1.2   In 2016 DEFRA consulted on the introduction of new secondary legislation to introduce a 
single “Animal Establishment Licence”. The stated aim was to “relieve the administrative 
burden on local authorities, simplify the application and inspection process for businesses, 
as well as maintain and improve existing animal welfare standards by modernising the 
current animal licensing system in England.” DEFRA went on to write draft regulations 
made under the Animal Welfare Act 2006.

1.3 The government, the public, local authorities, welfare organisations and businesses have 
been calling for changes to legislation and robust enforcement. Current laws are decades 
old and difficult to adapt to the changing types of animal related businesses. The current 
process is also quite complex and burdensome in places. For example legislation currently 
limits licences to a calendar-year framework which arbitrarily focusses inspections at the 
end of the year, and forces some businesses with multiple functions to have more than one 
licence. 

1.4 The new regulations provide for the licensing of persons involved in England in selling 
animals as pets, providing or arranging for the provision of boarding for cats or dogs, 
hiring out horses, breeding dogs and keeping or training animals for exhibition. This 
replaces the requirement in England, to be registered under the Performing Animals 
(Regulation) act 1925 or to obtain a licence under the Pet Animals Act 1951; the Animal 
Boarding Establishments Act 1963; the Riding Establishments Act 1964 or the Breeding of 
Dogs Act 1973.

1.5 The Regulations provide for local authorities to be the licensing authorities. Any person 
wishing to carry on any of these activities in England must obtain a licence from their local 

7

Agenda Item 7



authority. Carrying on any of these activities without a licence would commit an offence 
and that person would be liable to imprisonment for up to six months, a fine or both.

1.6 Part 2 of the Regulations set out how a person may apply for a licence and matters in 
respect of which a local authority must be satisfied when considering the grant or renewal 
of a licence. A local authority can charge fees to cover the costs of performing this 
function, as is the current situation. Officers will have powers to inspect premises and also 
to take samples from animals.

1.7 Part 3 sets out the circumstances and procedures under which a licence may be 
suspended, varied or revoked. It also makes it an offence to breach a condition or obstruct 
any inspector appointed for the purpose of enforcement of these regulations. 

1.8 There is an appeal provision in Part 4 which can be made against licensing decisions by 
local authorities in relation to a refusal to grant or renew a licence, or a decision to revoke 
or vary a licence. 

1.9 KEY CHANGES:

1.9.1 The Regulations implement a single Establishment Licence which covers the four 
activities: dog breeding, dog/cat boarding, selling pets, hiring out horses for riding, 
keeping or training animals for exhibition Note the use of the term “activities” as opposed 
to “establishments” which emphasises that activities such as the online sale of pets are 
included.

1.9.2 General and Specific conditions are laid out in the Regulations for each of the categories, 
as opposed to these being locally set or based on Chartered Institute of Environmental 
Health (CIEH) model conditions.  The proposed conditions can be seen within the draft 
Regulations (see link below under Background Papers).

1.9.3 The Regulations provide for a licence to be granted or renewed for a period of one, two or 
three years in respect of that activity. The local authority must have regard to Secretary of 
State guidance as may be issued, having regard to the following when determining the 
period of licence: the risk of an operator breaching any licence conditions; the impact on 
animal welfare on any such breaches; and whether the operator is already meeting higher 
standards of animal welfare than are required by the licence conditions. It is anticipated 
that local authorities will be required to use a national risk-based assessment system.

1.9.4 Legislation governing performing animals has previously fallen to the County Council. This 
will come under this Council’s remit under the new regulations and will go wider to cover 
animals that are exhibited, such as mobile animal exhibits. It is anticipated that these will 
be low volume and so will have minimal impact on workload or income.

1.9.5 Local authorities will be required to submit an annual data return in electronic format to 
DEFRA on the number of licences and registrations held for the animal activities. The 
publishing of this information nationally should help to reduce the burden of Freedom of 
information requests which are common on animal welfare licensing. 

1.9.6 Anyone breeding dogs and advertising a business of selling dogs, and/or breeding three or 
more litters of puppies in any 12 month period, are now covered by the Regulations

1.9.7 The regulations introduce specific requirements about advertisements for the sale of dogs, 
which will need to include: the licence number; the local authority that issued the licence; a 
recognisable photo of the dog being advertised, and the age of the dog being advertised. 

8



1.9.8 The sale of puppies below eight weeks of age will be prohibited. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this report

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The report is for information to ensure that Committee members are aware of the draft 
Regulations which will be enforced by the local authority as the licensing authority. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Animal welfare is a subject that Members are often asked about as it is always a matter of 
concern for the general public. This briefing will give members an understanding of the 
proposed changes to the licensing regime and how the team will implement these

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

When the final Regulations are published the team will be properly authorised for the 
purposes of enforcement under the legislation. The Legal Services Manager has been 
consulted.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The animal welfare licensing framework serves to ensure that the welfare and safety of 
animals and the public is maintained. It also ensures that there is a fair trading environment 
for businesses. The new licensing scheme will be implemented to ensure that it is customer 
friendly and digital where possible. This supports the corporate priorities: Supporting 
Breckland to develop and thrive; providing the right services, at the right time and in the 
right way.

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

5.3.1 The new Regulations will simplify the licensing framework for animal establishments and 
activities, and create criminal offences for breach of conditions and obstruction of officers.

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1 An impact assessment was carried out by DEFRA prior to the publication of the draft 
Regulations. It is the opinion of the report author that there will be no adverse effect on the 
equality, diversity or human rights of any individual.

9



5.5 Financial 

5.5.1 There will be an additional burden on the authority, in terms of officer time, in implementing 
the legislation and making the necessary changes to procedures, database, website, forms, 
officer training etc.

5.5.2 Work will be carried out to determine the new fee structure when the regulations have been 
finalised. We are also anticipating national guidance on fee setting. When we have this 
information the team will work with the finance team to ensure any impact on licensing 
income is considered.

5.6      Staffing

5.6.1 Officers will receive training when this is made available nationally and will have access to 
all guidance and support material. 

5.7 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.7.1 Consultation has been carried out nationally in respect of the new legislation. The results of 
the DEFRA consultation were taken into account when preparing the draft Regulations.

5.7.2 The draft Regulations are due to come into force on 1st October 2018. It is anticipated that 
any unexpired licences under the current legislation will continue in force for the remainder 
of the term.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The legislation is coming into force nationally and will affect all wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 DEFRA – Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs
7.2   CIEH - Chartered Institute of Environmental Health 

Background papers:-
The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111165485/pdfs/ukdsi_
9780111165485_en.pdf

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall
Telephone Number: 07866 810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:  No 

Exempt Decision:  No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

10

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111165485/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111165485_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2018/9780111165485/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111165485_en.pdf


11


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	7 Update on New Animal Welfare Regulations

